Laverstock & Ford Parish Council

Parish Flood Plan

November 2014 V2

CONTENTS

Page

Contents

1.0	Introduction	2	
2.0	Flood Warnings	2	
3.0	Flood Alerts & Actions Required	4	
4.0	Flood Prevention	6	
5.0	Flood Action	7	
6.0	Level of Response from Authorities	11	
7.0	Authorities/Organisations and Useful Numbers	12	
Flooding from Public Sewers		12	
Floo	oding from Private Sewers or Drains	12	
Flooding from the Public Highway12			
Floo	Flooding from a Burst Water Main13		
Floo	Flooding from a Water Service Pipe or Internal Pipework		
Floo	Flooding from a Main River1		
Oth	Other Useful Contacts		
Who	Does What?	14	

1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 This document is to assist Laverstock & Ford Parish Council and people living in the catchment area of Laverstock and Ford Parish Council in preparing and responding to a flooding event in their area.
- 1.2 Details in the Plan concentrate on the operational aspects of flooding, eg protecting life and property and managing the flood.
- 1.3 The actions of each organisation are listed but they may not necessarily be carried out as the result of a duty or responsibility.

2.0 Flood Warnings

2.1 The Environment Agency's Local Flood Warning Plan provides details of the flood warning arrangements for specific Flood Warning areas where there is a risk of flooding from rivers or the sea. The Agency also provides information on ground water levels.

2.2 There are four warning codes, 3 represented by graphical icons. These are:

All Clear - there are no flood watches or flood warnings currently in force.
Flood Alert - Flooding is possible. Be prepared.
Flood Warning - Flooding is expected. Immediate action required
Severe Flood Warning - Severe flooding. Danger to life.

- 2.3 Flood Watch is a general alert concerning flooding from rivers, streams, ditches, watercourses, estuaries and the sea. Flood Warnings and Severe Flood Warnings relate to specific Flood Warning Areas at risk of flooding from rivers and the sea.
- 2.4 Flooding is a natural process. The risk of flooding can be reduced but never eliminated, so there is a need to warn people when flooding is likely to occur. If a local resident or householder would like to receive Flood Warnings from the Environment Agency, they can be included in this free service by completing the online application at:

https://fwd.environment-agency.gov.uk/app/olr/register

This service is both for private and business registration

3.0 Flood Alerts & Actions Required

Flood Alert



Flooding is possible. Be prepared, so:

- Watch water levels
- •Stay tuned to local radio or TV
- •Ring Floodline on Call Floodline on 0345 988 1188. Make sure you have what you need to put your flood plan into action
- •Alert your neighbours, particularly the elderly
- Check pets and livestock
- Reconsider travel plans

Flood Warning



Flood Warning - **Flooding is expected. Immediate action required,** so put your flood plan into action:

As with Flood Alert plus:

- Move pets, vehicles, food, valuables and other items to safety
- Put sandbags or flood boards in place
- Prepare to turn off gas and electricity
- Be prepared to evacuate your home
- Protect yourself, your family and others that need your help

Severe Flood Warning



Severe Flood Warning - **Severe flooding. Danger to life.** As with Flood Alert plus:

- Be prepared to lose power supplies gas, electricity, water, telephone
- Try to keep calm, and to reassure others, especially children
- Co-operate with emergency services and local authorities
- You may be evacuated

All Clear

All Clear - there are no flood watches or flood warnings currently in force.

An all clear will be issued when flood watches or warnings are no longer in force.

- Flood water levels receding.
- Check all is safe to return.
- Seek advice.

HOW TO PREPARE FOR A FLOOD

- Check your insurance cover. Keep details and emergency contact number with your flood kit.
- Make up a flood kit including key personal documents and contact information
- Torch or gas lamp
- Battery or wind-up radio
- Mobile phone
- Rubber gloves
- Wellington boots
- Waterproof clothing
- First aid kit and blankets
- Find out where you can get sandbags or flood boards to block doorways and airbricks. In an emergency, make sandbags using old pillow-cases, carrier bags or even tights filled with sand or earth.
- Make sure you know where to turn off your gas, electricity and water, even in the dark. If you're not sure ask the person who checks your meter when they next visit. Keep details handy in case of emergency
- Make a Family Food Plan including Children's essentials, milk, baby food, sterilizing equipment, nappies etc

- Tinned foodstuffs that will keep for long periods without deterioration
- Medication that is required regularly
- Provision for family pets. Think about how you would prepare food without power or services. Do you have a camping stove that can be kept handy for emergency use?
- Consider where you would move your furniture and effects out of reach of floodwater. Consider where you would move the car to for its protection, and also to allow access for emergency vehicles if required

3.0 FLOODING EVENT

- 3.1 The main types of flooding event referred to in this plan are:
- FLUVIAL (River)
- FLASH (Roads, ditches, fields)
- GROUNDWATER (High water table)
- SEWAGE (Sewers, rising mains and pumping stations)
- POTABLE WATER (Mains failure)
- 3.2 The main causes of flooding in the area of Laverstock & Ford Parish Council arise from the River Bourne, or from surface water that is unable to run away or disperse through natural drainage or drainage systems that have been constructed.

4.0 Flood Prevention

4.1 Laverstock & Ford Parish Council does not have the resources to store emergency equipment (sandbags, for example), and must rely on giving local residents the information they will need to enable them to quickly and effectively obtain help and support in the event of flood. In cases where property owners and occupiers are aware of their situation with regard to flood risk, they should give consideration to ways in which they can protect their property.

The council is unable to supply sandbags in advance of any flood warnings and you should make your own arrangements to purchase and arrange for delivery to your home by local builders merchants

If you are in imminent danger of flooding telephone 0300 456 0105 or out of hours call 01722 413834. We have a limited supply of sandbags and any requests for them during an emergency will be considered on a case by case basis and prioritised by level of need or vulnerability for example the elderly or infirm and the protection of commercial property to prevent environmental pollution.

Residents are strongly advised to make their own provision for the supply of sandbags and other emergency equipment, possible suppliers of sandbags are listed below:

Salisbury	Boswells	01722 333781
Salisbury	Jewson	01722 323922
Salisbury	Wickes	01722 435100

4.2 Where to place sandbags:

• You can prevent or reduce flooding by taking steps to stop flood water entering your home or work place. This can be done by blocking doorways and airbricks from the outside with sandbags.

4.3 How to place sandbags:

• Lift the sandbag by the neck and place it across the doorway. Ensure it is bedded in against the door and frame. Make sure the neck is pulled back across the top of the bag. Layer the sandbags in brick formation ensuring that joints are staggered.

4.4 Where to store sandbags:

- Keep your sandbags out of the rain and sunshine to ensure they last longer.
- Please note that sandbags will deteriorate naturally, and should be inspected before flooding may occur in order to ensure that they are still suitable for use.
- A number of Flood Protection Products have also been produced in recent years. A new BS Kitemark standard has been established for flood protection products, and residents in the Parish may find it appropriate to purchase such products.

5.0 Flood Action

5.1 Cleaning up and protecting against infection

(Based on guidance notes produced by the Public Health Laboratory Service)

The floodwater affecting your home or other property may have been contaminated with sewage, animal waste and other contaminants. However infection problems arising from floods in the UK are actually rare.

Although harmful micro-organisms in floodwater are very diluted and present a low risk there are a few precautions to be aware of when dealing with flooding which should prevent unnecessary health problems.

If you follow the basic advice below you should not experience any additional health problems:

- Flood water and sewage often leaves a muddy deposit. However, experience from previous flooding and sewage contamination has shown that any risk to health is small. You do not need any booster immunisations or antibiotics.
- Health risks can be minimised by taking general hygiene precautions and by the use of protective clothing (waterproof boots and gloves) whilst cleaning up.
- Always wash your hands with soap and water after going to the toilet, before eating or preparing food, after being in contact with flood water, sewage or items that have been contaminated by these, or participating in flood clean-up activities.

- Do not allow children to play in flood water areas and wash children's hands frequently (always before meals). Wash flood water-contaminated toys with hot water or disinfectant before allowing them to be used.
- Keep any open cuts or sores clean and prevent them being exposed to flood water. Wear protective waterproof plasters.
- Harmful gut bacterial such as Ecoli 0157 may be present in sewage and animal slurry, and this can pass into flood water, although there is likely to be substantial dilution. If anyone does develop a tummy upset following direct flooding or contact with sewage they should seek medical advice.
- While in the property floorboards, walls etc will continue to dry out. Any loose material and dust results from this should be vacuumed up on a regular basis.
- Very young children should avoid playing directly on timber floorboards or any damaged tiled floors if possible be aware of the risk of injury from sharp edges on tiles or raised nails in the floorboards until these have been repaired.
- Help for vulnerable and elderly people returning to their houses is available from the Social Services Department.
- Contact your doctor if you become ill after accidentally swallowing mud or contaminated water and explain that your house was flooded.

Gardens and Play Areas

- Do not let young children play on affected grassed or paved areas until they have been cleaned down and restored to their normal condition.
- Sunlight and soil help destroy harmful bacterial and any excess risk to health should disappear completely within a week or so. The best way of protecting health is always to wash your hands before eating or preparing food.

If the Inside of your Home is affected

- Remove all soft furnishings and fittings that are damaged beyond repair.
- Remove dirty water and silt from the property, including the space under the ground floor if you have wooden floors. This space may need pumping out.
- Wash down all hard surfaces with hot soapy water until they look clean. Use domestic disinfectant, following manufacturer's directions as to concentrations, to wash over all hard surfaces after cleaning.
- Food preparation surfaces and storage cupboards, refrigerators etc. should be washed down with food safe disinfectants such as Milton, Dettol or similar.
- Allow to thoroughly dry this will also help to destroy germs left behind
- Heating and good ventilation will assist the drying out process.

Clothing and Bedding

• Clothing, bedding and other soft/fabric articles including children's toys etc should be laundered on a hot wash (60 or the highest temperature indicated on manufacturer's instructions), which will destroy most germs that may be present. Other soft furnishings that have been contaminated and cannot be put in a washing machine will have to be professionally cleaned or, if this is not possible, may have to be disposed of.

Other contaminants

- If the floodwater contained oil, diesel etc this should in the main be removed with the floodwater and silt. Any remaining oil, diesel etc contamination in accessible areas can be removed by using a detergent solution and washing the surface down after initial cleaning has been carried out.
- In inaccessible areas such as under floorboards it may present an odour problem but is not necessarily a health hazard. Further advice should be sought from Environmental Health if the odour persists or if you are particularly concerned about it for other reasons.

5.2 Returning to your Home

It is recommended that you only fully re-occupy your home once the above cleaning has been carried out. There may be additional works to be carried out eventually as advised by your insurance company, housing officer, landlord, builder etc. If you decided to return to your home before this work is completed you should:

- Try to have some heating on at all times. Consider the use of a dehumidifier.
- Ensure the property is well ventilated. Leave windows open as much as possible, but remember security!
- Ensure that if you have airbricks to any under floor space that they are unblocked to give cross ventilation to these areas.

Food Preparation and Storage

- Do not eat any food that has been covered by or come into contact with sewage or flood water.
- Wash your hands before and after preparing food. Take particular care in preparing food, always wash your hands before starting.
- Ensure that all surfaces that food will come into contact with are sound and disinfected. If worktops and other areas show signs of damage, avoid food contact with these areas. Particularly, make sure that the shelves, including those in your refrigerator where food is stored, are cleaned and disinfected.
- Use boiled water, which has then been allowed to cool, to wash food that is eaten raw. It is safe to use unboiled tap water in the preparation of food that is to be cooked. It is safe to use unboiled tap water for cooking if it will be boiled during the cooking process.

- Food preparation surfaces should be wiped down using hot unboiled tap water containing washing-up liquid, and dishes and other utensils should also be washed in hot unboiled tap water containing washing-up liquid.
- Fitted units made of chipboard, particularly in the kitchen, may not dry out well and will become damaged by absorbed water. Sanitisation of these is difficult and therefore may have to be eventually replaced.
- Try to keep any opened food in an enclosed box or tin.
- All crockery, pots and pans should be thoroughly washed with hot soapy water before use. If any of these are badly chipped or damaged do not use. You could use a food-safe disinfectant to sanitise them after cleaning.
- Frozen food that has been at room temperature for a few hours should be discarded. Put contaminated flood-damaged food in black plastic refuse sacks, seal and put out when your refuse collection is due. Check with insurers before disposal. Do not be tempted to try and keep damaged food including tins as they may be contaminated with sewage and chemicals left from the flood water.

If Your Drinking Water Becomes Contaminated

- People whose water comes through a mains supply should follow the advice of the local water company regarding the safety of their water supply. Water companies have a duty to take all necessary steps to protect public health. If a water treatment works becomes flooded alternative supplies are normally available but consumers may be advised to boil water before drinking or temporarily stop using water for domestic purposes.
- If you notice a change in water quality, such as the water becoming discoloured, or there is a change in taste or smell, or if you are unsure, ring your local water company. If in doubt boil all water intended for drinking or use bottled water.
- If your water is a private supply such as a well or spring, then check that it has not been affected by the floodwater. If a private well or spring has been covered by flood water, if the water changes colour or taste, or you believe the supply has been affected by the flood then boil or otherwise treat the water. Continue to boil water until the supply has been tested and shown to be safe. Boiling water kills harmful bacteria, viruses and parasites that may be present in water.
- Bring the water to the boil and then allow it to cool before drinking.
- It can be stored in a clean jug covered by a saucer in a cool place, preferably the fridge).
- •Ice should only be made from water prepared for drinking. •If you have been advised to boil your water, then boil all water for drinking, brushing teeth, washing food and making ice.
- Water from the hot tap is not suitable for drinking.
- Ensure the water taps are cleaned and disinfected before using them for the first time.
- If there is a bottle-fed baby in the house make sure their water is boiled and do not use bottled water unless it is recommended by a doctor or health visitor. Some bottled water is unsuitable for babies as it has too many salts for their immature kidneys.

Remember the following:

- Contact your insurance company (if relevant) and make an inventory list of all damaged goods, including food. If you can, take photographic or video picture. Check with insurers before disposal of contaminated flood-damaged food.
- Replace manhole covers dislodged by the flood.
- Ensure that the house is properly aired to encourage drying
- Make sure that any mould growth is properly treated. Fungicidal products are available from DIY stores.
- After about six months it would be advisable to check timber floors for any evidence of rot or shrinkage. Any necessary repair work can then be made.
- Check for structural damage to your property and if you think there is damage or danger seek advice from your insurer, builder or building control officer.
- DO NOT be tempted to try and salvage damaged food as it may be contaminated with sewage or chemicals left from the floodwater
- DO NOT switch on electrical appliances that have been in contact with the floodwater unless a competent electrician has checked them. Your local electricity supply company will be checking mains supplies.
- DO NOT eat home grown garden or allotment fruit and vegetables that have been covered by floodwater. Leave undamaged vegetables in the ground for at least another two weeks and then only use them after thorough washing and cooking.
- Finally, both physical stress associated with over-exertion in cleaning up premises, and mental stress caused by temporary relocation may make you feel unwell. Indeed, the major health hazard of floods comes from all the stress and strain of the event, not infection. If you feel unwell this does not necessarily mean that you are suffering from any infection, but if you are concerned visit your own doctor.

6.0 Level of Response from Authorities

6.1 The level of response from the authorities to a flooding incident will depend on what is flooded or is at risk of being flooded. There are five priority categories:

PRIORITY FLOODING AFFECTING RESPONSE

- 1 People Action to protect life
- 2 Houses Action to protect life and property
- 3 Roads Action to protect life and property
- 4 Commercial Property Possible action to protect property
- 5 Gardens/Agricultural Land No action

6.2 There are other factors that may influence the level of a response. Priority is likely to be given to the old or infirm when assisting people, and to occupied property when protecting property. The classification of roads may be used in prioritising responses to road flooding and the protection of commercial property may depend on the risk of environmental pollution from stored chemicals etc.

7.0 Authorities/Organisations and Useful Numbers

7.1 The following Authorities & Organisations may be involved in direct specific action during a flooding event. Property owners are listed as it is their responsibility to protect their own property from flooding.

Flooding from Public Sewers

Water companies are responsible for maintaining public sewers. To report an overflowing or blocked public sewer, you should contact your water provider:

Wessex Water Sewage Floodline: 0845 850 5959 (24 hours)

Wessex Water Leak stoppers: 0800 692 0692 Email: <u>leakstoppers@wessexwater.co.uk</u> Website: www.wessexwater.co.uk

Thames Water Water or Waste Waterline: 0845 9200 800

Thames Water Leakline: 0800 714 614 Website: www.thameswater.co.uk

Southern Water Emergency line: If you have a water supply or wastewater emergency, including blocked drains or wish to report a possible pollution, please contact 0845 278 0845 (open 24 hours for emergencies)

Southern Water Leakline: 0800 820 999 (24 hours)

Website: www.southernwater.co.uk

Flooding from Private Sewers or Drains

If your private drains or sewers are overflowing, you will need a drainage contractor to deal with any blockage. See "Yellow Pages" under "Drain and Pipe Cleaning". If you are uncertain if any blockage is in the public or private sewers, the water company should be able to determine this, once on site, then recharge you the cost of any work on the private sewers.

Flooding from the Public Highway

For flooding from the public highway or reporting blocked road gullies or gratings, contact the council.

Wiltshire's local highways service (formerly known as CLARENCE) for reporting road, lighting defects and other hazards including flooding and drainage issues.

Tel: 0300 456 0105

Email: localhighways@wiltshire.gov.uk

Flooding from a Burst Water Main

The local water supply companies are responsible for the repair and maintenance of the water mains, which carry large amounts of water from the treatment works to your street but the property owner is responsible for the pipe which supplies their individual address.

Wessex Water Leak stoppers: 0800 692 0692 Email: <u>leakstoppers@wessexwater.co.uk</u>
Website: www.wessexwater.co.uk

Thames Water Leakline: 0800 714 614 Website: www.thameswater.co.uk

Southern Water Leakline: 0800 820 999 (24 hours)

Website: www.southernwater.co.uk

Flooding from a Water Service Pipe or Internal Pipework

This is the responsibility of the homeowner or landlord and would need the attention of a plumber (see "Yellow Pages" or similar directories).

Flooding from a Main River

The main rivers are the responsibility of the Environment Agency. In addition, the Agency provide a "Floodline", which is a 24 hour advice and information service for floods and flood warning on 0845 988 1188.

Environment Agency Floodline: 0845 988 1188 Website: www.environment-agency.gov.uk

Other Useful Contacts

Service	Details
Local highway (formerly known as CLARENCE - Wiltshire's Customer Lighting And Roads Enquiry Centre service) for reporting road, lighting defects and other hazards including flooding and drainage issues.	Email: <u>localhighways@wiltshire.gov.uk</u> Tel: 0300 456 0105
Wiltshire Council Emergency Planning To coordinate and provide support and assistance to council service providers, the Emergency Services and other agencies during the response to an incident. The team will also coordinate and assist with the recovery phase. Represents Wiltshire Council on the Local Resilience Forum.	Email: emergencyplanning@wiltshire.gov.uk Tel: 01225 713159
Wiltshire Council - Flood defence or land	localhighways@wiltshire.gov.uk or phone 0300

drainage matters	456 0105
Environment Agency	Website: www.environment-agency.gov.uk Tel: 0845 988 1188
National Flood Forum A charity run by people who have experienced flooding or have first hand experience of supporting victims of flooding. It offers Advice & Support to communities and individuals who have been flooded or are at risk of flooding.	Website: www.floodforum.org.uk
Met Office	Website: www.metoffice.gov.uk
Thames Water	Website: <u>www.thameswater.co.uk</u>
Wessex Water	Website: www.wessexwater.co.uk
Southern Water	Website: <u>www.southernwater.co.uk</u>
Citizens Advice Bureau Advice on how you may be able to obtain financial assistance during an emergency.	Contact your local service
Fire & Rescue Services Their primary responsibility is to save lives. May also pump out flood water (contact your local service), but there may a charge for this service	
Health Protection Agency Monitors and gives advice on public health (health protection and flooding)	Website: www.hpa.org.uk
N.H.S. Direct For advice on health concerns during or after a flood.	Tel: 0845 45 46 47 Website: www.nhsdirect.nhs.uk
National Grid If you smell gas or observe a potential electrical hazard on or near overhead power supplies.	Tel: Gas - 0800 111 999 Tel: Electricity - 0800 404 090

Who Does What?

8.1 ENVIRONMENT AGENCY

- Issue flood warnings
- Receive and record details of all flooding incidents
- Monitor the situation and advise other organisations
- Deal with emergency repairs and blockages on main rivers and own structures
- Respond to pollution incidents
- Advise on waste disposal issues

8.2 COUNTY COUNCIL

- Co-ordinate emergency arrangements
- Maintain safe conditions on the roads
- Put flood warning signs on the highway
- Organise road closures and traffic diversions
- Clear blockages on highway drainage system

• May take action to protect property from flooding by water from the highway where there is a failure of the highway drainage system.

8.3 DISTRICT COUNCIL

- Co-ordinating role for own area
- Flood warning dissemination (By local agreement with Environment Agency). Emergency Assistance (S138 LGA 1972) Provide sandbags
- Clear blocked watercourses etc. (Land Drainage Act powers)
- Carry out actions as County Council for highways (Highways Agency areas only)
- Environmental Health issues pollution
- Blocked road channels and gully gratings Street cleaning
- Emergency Planning Support Groups

8.4 TOWN AND PARISH COUNCILS

• Flood warning dissemination (by local agreement with Environment Agency)

8.5 FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE

- Rescue
- Respond to all emergency incidents as required
- Assist local residents where necessary and may pump out floodwater, but there may be a charge for this service to householders.

8.6 WATER COMPANY

- Emergency over pumping or tankering at Pumping Stations
- Clearing blockages in public sewers and outfall grills
- Repairing burst sewage and water pumping mains
- May take action to protect property from flooding by water from the public water mains or discharges from the public sewerage systems.

8.7 ELECTRICITY, GAS AND TELEPHONE COMPANIES

- Attend to emergencies relating to the service they provide at properties putting life at risk as a result of flooding
- Attend to flooding emergencies at their own service installations

Residents are advised to make a note of their local service supplier and keep emergency contact numbers handy

8.8 PROPERTY OWNERS

- Move temporarily to a safe area if life is at risk
- Prevent water from entering property if possible
- Switch off electricity and gas supplies at mains
- Move valuable possessions upstairs where possible

8.9 CITIZEN'S ADVICE BUREAU

• May be able to offer advice on how to obtain money in an emergency and assist in dealing with insurance queries

STAY SAFE IN A FLOOD

- Don't try to walk or drive through floodwater. Six inches of fast flowing water can knock you over and two feet of water will float your car. Manhole covers may have come off and there may be other unseen hazards
- Never try to swim through fast flowing water. You may get swept away or be struck by an object in the water
- Don't walk on sea defences, riverbanks or cross river bridges if possible. They may collapse in extreme situations or you may be swept off by large waves. Beware of stones and pebbles being thrown up by waves
- Avoid contact with floodwater, it may be contaminated with sewage

Information taken from leaflets available from the Environment Agency